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VISIONMISSIONACTION

The Massachusetts Municipal Wholesale Electric 

Company (MMWEC) is a not-for-profit, public 

corporation and political subdivision of the 

Commonwealth of Massachusetts, created 

in 1976 through an Act of the Massachusetts 

General Court. MMWEC provides a broad range 

of power supply, financial and other services 

to the consumer-owned municipal utilities 

of Massachusetts. It also is the operator and 

principal owner of the Stony Brook power plant, 

a 520-megawatt, combined-cycle intermediate 

and peaking generating station located at 

MMWEC’s Stony Brook Energy Center in Ludlow.



CreATING   VAlue  AND 
New   OppOrTuNITIeS

the past year has been one of fundamental 
change and great progress for the massachusetts 
municipal wholesale electric company (mmwec). 
what began in 2005 as a new strategic focus for 
the mmwec board of Directors has grown into a 
broad range of activities that are creating value and 
new opportunities for massachusetts municipal 
utilities. these activities have engaged the entire 
mmwec organization in a process of change that 
is nourished by an enlightened vision of mmwec’s 
future, a customer-focused mission and progressive 
actions to advance the interests of mmwec 
member utilities.

some of the more visible actions of the past year 
include a major restructuring of mmwec staff 
functions, the launch of preconstruction activities 
for a new mmwec generating unit, the hugely 
successful litigation of costly reliability must 
run (rmr) agreements and the establishment of 
numerous new programs, services and alliances 
to achieve strategic objectives.

mmwec has strengthened its regulatory and legislative 
presence, established a strategic partnership 
with the energy Authority, celebrated 25 years of 

Glenn o. steiger 
General Manager and  
Secretary

michael J. flynn 
Chairman of the Board

h. bradford white
President



operation for its stony brook power plant and 
earned an upgrade in its credit standing from 
standard & poor’s.
 
Addressing climate change issues also is an 
important focus of mmwec, and the organization 
is moving forward with a commitment to 
making demand-side and renewable energy 
resources integral parts of our members’ 
power supply portfolio. 

underlying these and other innovative actions 
has been a firm commitment by the organization 
to strategic planning and policy development, 
beginning with the board’s creation of strategic 
and policy objectives more than a year ago. from 
the board’s work has come the vision of mmwec 
as new england’s premier public power supplier 
and mission statements that prioritize value, 
efficiency, customer service and innovation in all 
that mmwec does.

we are striving to provide responsive and 
meaningful customer services and to develop 
and implement new business products. we 
will continue to improve communications with 
mmwec’s stakeholders, and we are dedicated to 
positioning mmwec as a more aggressive power 
supplier in the ever-changing electric utility 
industry, with a focus on stabilizing power costs.

 

Glenn O. Steiger 
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the structure and process for change at mmwec 
is healthy. it is clear, inclusive, well-documented 
and has broad support from the board, members, 
project participants and staff. with these 
characteristics, the progress of the past year 
can be sustained indefinitely.

in the coming year, we will continue our work 
to fulfill the promise of a new, innovative and 
enlightened mmwec that will address the 
challenges of 2007 and beyond with confidence  
and creative solutions.

After a full 
year,
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the vision of mmwec as new england’s premier 
public power supplier has its roots in an 
ongoing series of strategic planning sessions 
initiated by the mmwec board of Directors in 
mid-2005. After recognizing the need to change 
mmwec and realign its programs and services 
with the evolving needs of municipal utilities, 
the board began developing a new strategic 
and policy direction for mmwec. over the 
course of many months, the board focused on 
realigning strategic objectives, establishing a 
clear organizational and governance structure, 
creating a performance-based culture at mmwec, 
improving communications with stakeholders and 
reinventing mmwec’s power supply services.

in addition to holding numerous meetings,  
the board adopted a strategic planning process 
that included a survey of municipal utilities, 
meetings and discussions with members and 
project participants, taped interviews with 
several municipal utility managers and the 
assessment of various strategies to improve 
the value and efficiency of mmwec’s services. 
it has been an inclusive and participatory 
process for all of mmwec’s stakeholders, 
fostering support throughout the organization 
for various restructuring initiatives.

Making MMWEC a more customer-focused organization 
and enhancing communications were high on a list of goals 
established by the Board for 2006. In addition, the Board 
defined the essence of MMWEC as an organization that is 
proactive in meeting Member utility needs and recognized 
as a respected, first-source of industry information and  
expertise. The essential MMWEC also is an organization 
that provides stable and competitively priced power, 
safeguards the financial interests of its Members and 
cultivates collaboration among its stakeholders.

rekINDlING A SpIrIT Of INNOVATION  
by realigning strategic objectives, defining the  
process for change and empowering stakeholders 
to develop creative solutions that define our 
new direction.

taking the process a step further, the board 
developed a series of six “desired outcomes” 
that include a basic statement, a more detailed 
description of the objective and — perhaps most 
importantly — measures of success for each of 
the outcomes. these “outcomes” have provided 
mmwec’s management and staff with the guidance 
and clarity needed to follow the strategic and 
policy direction established by the board.
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Part of the Board’s work also has involved a governance 
restructuring process that is reshaping the role of the Board 
within the MMWEC organization. Governance restructuring 
has included an examination and adjustment of reporting 
hierarchies, levels of authority and interactions of staff with 
the Board.

there have been adjustments in the board’s 
operating philosophy with the focus now on 
policy and strategy as opposed to operational 
details. standing board committees also have 
been restructured to include specific objectives 
and accountabilities for each committee as well as 
process changes to facilitate greater stakeholder 
participation in the decision-making process.

late in february 2006, prepared to step off 
in a new strategic direction, the board hired 
Glenn o. steiger as mmwec’s General manager 
to provide the leadership and management 
expertise needed to implement its restructuring 
plans. the results thus far are exciting and 
encouraging.

Strategic planning 
sessions of the 
Board have focused 
MMWEC on providing 
more responsive, 
effective and efficient 
services.

	

We are a proactive provider of stable  
power supply

We are the “Go-To” subject matter expert  
for Massachusetts municipal utilities

We aspire to have the respect and  
confidence of our Members to  
effectively serve their needs

We provide stable power supply at  
competitive rates

We safeguard the financial assets of  
our Members

We promote equality between stakeholders, 
consistent with service level

•

•

•

•

•

•

ThE BASIC STATEMEnTS of ThE BoArd’S 
“dESIrEd ouTCoMES” ArE AS foLLoWS:

box is 40% tint



Stakeholder involvement 
has been a hallmark of 
the Board’s planning  
process, fostering support 
for restructuring initiatives.

DIVISION
MANAGerS

sandra Z. magyar 
Director of Member  
& Public Relations

ronald c. Decurzio 
Treasurer/Director  
of Financial & Risk  
Management Services

Joseph o. roy
Director of  
Generation Services

kevin t. wright
Director of Supply  
& Trading  

Alan r. menard
Director of Business  
Support Services

John J. boudreau
Director of Business  
&Regulatory StrategypG 6
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in his first meeting with mmwec employees, 
General manager steiger described this mission 
and his plans to achieve it, which required 
a major reorganization and realignment of 
mmwec staff. some of the plan’s objectives 
are to provide responsive and meaningful 
customer service, manage the risks of dynamic 
power market conditions, elevate mmwec’s 
legislative/regulatory presence, vastly improve 
information systems integration and greatly 
enhance communications vehicles.

Generally, the plan reflects a need for  
mmwec to compete more effectively in the 
region’s electric power business and develop 
a forward-looking strategy that focuses on 
improved service to member and project  

The MISSION Of MMweC is defined  
in four statements derived from the Board’s 
“desired outcomes.”

	

A high-value power supplier

Cost-effective for its Members

Proactive in providing customer services

New England’s public power voice

•

•

•

•

IT IS MMWEC’S MISSIon To BE:

participant utilities. Among other things, 
it is intended to strengthen mmwec’s 
member relations, power supply, risk 
management, information technology and 
communications activities.

A new supply & trading Division includes 
an energy procurement and trading function 
that will enable mmwec to react quickly to 
changing market conditions and hedge risks 
associated with energy and fuel purchases. 
there is a new Generation services Division that 
manages existing projects and is responsible 
for developing and implementing new projects. 
this improved business framework also includes 
divisions for business & regulatory strategy, 
financial & risk management services, member 
& public relations and a reconstituted division for 
business support services.

These changes involved physical and functional  
movement of existing staff as well as the recruitment  
of individuals to fill several new positions. Implementing 
changes of this magnitude has required fundamental 
shifts in perception, culture and philosophy. recognizing 
and leveraging the high value of existing employees has 
been essential in realigning the structure and focus of 
staff to achieve mission objectives.
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All mmwec employees participated in strategic 
planning and business alignment workshops 
conducted by a management consultant with 
expertise in complex business reorganizations. 
throughout these full-day workshops, employees 
were guided by mmwec’s new vision and mission 
in identifying “bold steps” and “tactical actions” to 
advance restructuring initiatives.

once again, as with the board’s strategic planning 
process, it has been extremely important and 
productive to be inclusive in adding form and 
substance to the framework of mmwec’s mission.

Through this process, MMWEC has 
developed the following long-term 
strategies to achieve its mission.

EnErGy PrICE rISk MAnAGEMEnT 
to help bring stability and competitive prices 
to the municipal power supply and better align 
mmwec with the current and future state of 
the industry, mmwec will implement an energy 
price risk management program. this program 

offers a disciplined and objective approach to 
managing energy and fuel price risks, custom-
ized to reflect the risk tolerance of individual 
municipal utilities.

EnTErPrISE rISk MAnAGEMEnT 
to increase the value and cost-effectiveness of 
mmwec services, mmwec will address risks 
that exist throughout the organization, from 
employee turnover to regulatory change. 
through this process, mmwec will identify, 
quantify and prioritize such risks and initiate 
actions to manage and/or mitigate risk exposure.

dEMAnd MAnAGEMEnT/ 
ConSErvATIon SErvICES
these include proactive customer services  
such as demand response programs and energy 
conservation initiatives that contribute to the 
development of a cost-effective power supply. 
these efforts also support mmwec’s commitment 
to addressing climate change issues.

During meetings and 
visits with individual 
utilities, MMWEC 
has explained a new 
approach to managing 
risks in New England’s 
dynamic marketplace 
for wholesale power.

Volatility is evident in 
this snapshot of New 
England’s real-time 
energy prices over 
the last two years.



rEGuLATory STrATEGy/ 
TrAnSMISSIon dEvELoPMEnT 
these activities are focused on enhancing the 
value and proactive nature of mmwec services 
through participation in the development 
and implementation of regulations affecting 
municipal utilities. included are activities to 
achieve greater public power participation and 
ownership in new transmission facilities.

nEW GEnErATIon dEvELoPMEnT 
new sources of power are needed to meet the 
increasing needs of member utilities. mmwec’s 
special project 2006A, entailing plans to 
construct a 280-megawatt, combined-cycle 
generator at mmwec’s stony brook site, will 
meet a portion of members’ near-term baseload 
needs. the next increments of new generation 
must bring greater fuel diversity to the power 
supply and include a commitment to developing 
renewable resources that do not contribute to 
climate change issues.
 
InforMATIon SySTEMS  
to gain more business value from technology 
and achieve greater integration of information 
systems resources, mmwec will implement a 
multi-year program involving support service 
outsourcing and the development of strategic 
application plans.

CoMMErCIAL SErvICES
centralized billing and automated meter  
integration are among the innovative and  
proactive commercial services envisioned  
by mmwec.

MEMBEr & PuBLIC rELATIonS
to make it more customer-focused and responsive 
to member utility needs, mmwec will implement 
programs and services to enhance its image 
as new england’s public power voice and 
keep its constituents informed of mmwec and 
industry activities.

A review of legislative 
strategy is an important 
part of enhancing 
MMWEC’s legislative 
and regulatory presence 
at both the state and 
federal levels.

pG 10
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EPrM
the energy price risk management (eprm) 
program will soon be up and running, using a 
variety of financial and physical hedging tools to 
manage fuel and energy price risks for municipal 
utilities. establishing the information systems 
and other infrastructure needed to develop 
risk management plans for individual utilities, 
conduct trades and account for transactions 
has required the coordinated efforts of three 
mmwec divisions. for information systems, 
with a new strategic focus on prioritizing the 
development of critical business applications, 
the eprm program has been priority one.

several new positions have been filled to 
support this initiative, including positions  
for a supply & trading Division director, an 

reSTruCTurING MMweC and charting a 
course to achieve the organization’s new strategic 
and policy objectives has been an immense and 
rewarding task, but it is only a part of what MMweC 
has accomplished in the past year. 
 
There also has been great progress on numerous 
major initiatives that support the organization’s 
long-term strategies.

energy trader, an energy accountant and a 
program development manager. other position 
descriptions are being revised to include functions 
such as energy account representation and  
counterparty risk analysis.
 
the board’s risk oversight committee has 
devoted significant time and effort to developing, 
reviewing and approving mmwec’s energy  
risk management policy, which details the 
procedures and controls needed to implement 
the eprm program.

in addition, mmwec has entered into an  
agreement with the energy Authority, a public 
power energy trading and risk management 
organization, to provide start-up assistance  

pG 12



and support for eprm program activities. over 
time, the full range of eprm services will be 
provided by mmwec staff.

with mmwec members facing an approximate 
500-megawatt deficit in their power supplies by 
2012, the eprm program will help to mitigate the 
risks of purchasing energy in iso new england’s  
(iso-ne) volatile wholesale power markets.

nEW unIT
mmwec’s special project 2006A—a proposal to 
build a 280-megawatt, combined-cycle, baseload 
generator at mmwec’s stony brook energy 
center site – will fill about 40 percent of the  
gap in members’ power supplies. in 2006, 23 
municipal utilities agreed to fund development 
work for this new gas-and-oil-fired unit. ongoing 
development tasks include a variety of engineering, 
permitting, contracting, interconnection, financial 
and other activities. the proposed new unit is 
in the queue for participation in iso-ne’s first 
forward capacity market auction in 2008.

when the development phase of the project 
is completed, participating utilities will decide 
whether to proceed with financing and construc-
tion of the estimated $220 million unit, which is 
planned for operation in 2010. 

dEMAnd-SIdE/rEnEWABLES
in supplying the next increment of resources 
needed by mmwec’s members—beyond  
special project 2006A—mmwec is committed  
to developing new demand management, 
demand response and renewable energy 

	

0%
45%
15%
40%

20%
20%
20%
40%

2007 2010
eprm

open market

bilateral contracts

Generatng Assets

EvoLvInG rESourCES: Sample municipal 
system portfolio, 2007–2010

The EPRM Program is intended to hedge a portion of the Members’ 
open market exposure to volatile fuel and energy prices.

pG 13



pG 1�

resources. the need to offset future power 
requirements and further diversify the 
members’ power supply portfolio with  
these kinds of resources is vital. this  
commitment also puts mmwec ahead of the 
curve in addressing climate change issues  
that have captured the attention of lawmakers, 
regulators, utility industry officials and many 
others in recent months.

to advance these initiatives, mmwec is 
working with a non-profit energy company 
to implement a pilot program through which 
mmwec is offering energy conservation 
services for municipal facilities. plans are 
being made to expand the pilot program to 
include similar services for commercial,  
industrial and other institutional facilities. 

mmwec is providing assistance in registering 
municipal utilities’ demand response resources 
—such as load curtailment capability and 
on-site generation—with iso-ne. in addition 
to offsetting future power requirements and 
costs, these resources receive payment from 
iso-ne. it is mmwec’s intention to make such 
resources an integral part of its portfolio, treated 
on the same basis as supply-side resources.

the massachusetts public power community, 
including mmwec and several of its members, 
has committed at various levels to support 

and develop wind, biomass, landfill gas and 
hydroelectric resources. through its new 
project development activities, mmwec is 
seeking to solidify its commitment and 
pursue innovative approaches to developing 
renewable resources.

rEGuLATory/TrAnSMISSIon/ 
LEGISLATIvE

mmwec’s litigation of reliability must run 
(rmr) agreements before the federal energy 
regulatory commission (ferc) has saved 
members an estimated $80 million in potential 
rmr costs. in several ferc cases resolved 
in the past year, mmwec challenged the need 
for and proposed rates associated with these 
costly agreements, which provide guaranteed 
payments to generators that iso-ne determines 
are needed to ensure electric system reliability. 
the savings are a result of mmwec litigation 
that contributed to the collapse of three 
rmr agreements and resulted in settlement 
agreements that have eliminated and/or 
reduced the costs of other rmr agreements.

the rmr litigation and other regulatory/
transmission activities are protecting the rights 
and promoting the interests of municipal 
utilities, primarily in the wholesale power 
marketplace. for example, mmwec is 
participating in the development of rules for 

pG 1�
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iso-ne’s nascent forward capacity market. 
it also is involved in a number of activities 
to contain its members’ transmission costs. 
efforts to promote public power ownership 
of new transmission facilities have resulted 
in an opportunity for mmwec to become an 
owner of proposed new transmission facilities 
in western massachusetts.

At the same time, mmwec is amplifying its 
legislative and regulatory presence at both  
the federal and state levels. this is being 
accomplished by expanding mmwec’s partici-
pation in national public power organizations 
and making more frequent visits to washington, 
D.c., to meet with federal legislators and  
regulators. mmwec also is meeting with 
state officials to explore the potential for 
cooperation to achieve common energy goals 
and is taking a more active approach to secure 
enactment of a bill that will update mmwec’s 
enabling legislation. this long-standing bill 
passed the state senate for the first time in 
2006 but failed to advance further.

STony Brook
mmwec’s 520-megawatt, combined-cycle 
stony brook power plant celebrated 25 years  
of operation in 2006, and the plant continues 
to be a valuable and productive asset for 
mmwec and its stony brook participants.

with the installation of diesel generators  
adjacent to the plant in september 2006, two  
of stony brook’s turbines are now enrolled  
and being compensated for their participation in  
iso-ne’s black start program. the diesels 
enable the stony brook turbines to start 
independently and be used to reenergize the 
region’s power grid in the event of a system 
blackout. the diesels also are enrolled in the 
iso’s demand response program.

	

0%
1%
5%
34%
40%
20%

1%
5%
5%
36%
38%
16%

2007 2010

Dsm
renewable

hydro

Gas

nuclear

oil

EvoLvInG rESourCES: Generating 
asset mix, 2007–2010

The 2010 asset mix includes a new MMWEC generating unit 
and other new resources needed to meet load growth.



in addition, the stony brook plant is receiving 
revenue from iso-ne’s locational forward 
reserve market as well as forward capacity 
market transition payments. in a demonstration  
of the plant’s reliability, stony brook’s intermediate 
unit turbines were dispatched a record 81 consecu-
tive days during the summer months of 2006.

MEMBEr/PuBLIC rELATIonS
several new programs and services were  
implemented in 2006 to enhance communication 
with member and project participant utilities. Among
them is the member Assistance program (mAp), 
through which designated staff members contact 
utility managers by phone once a month to 
provide information and obtain feedback on 
mmwec’s activities. mAp call information is 
being compiled in a customer service database.

the new member visitation program is providing 
mmwec employees with an opportunity to visit 
municipal utilities for a day to gain a better 
understanding of local utility operations and issues. 
mmwec plans to reciprocate in 2007 by giving 
municipal utility employees an opportunity to spend 
a day at mmwec. the mmwec institute was 
established in 2006 as an educational forum to 
provide public power systems with information 
on topics and marketplace issues affecting their 
operations. structured as a series of seminars 
and conferences, mmwec institute sessions 
have addressed capacity markets, emergency 
operating procedures, iso-ne relations and new 
reliability standards.

A program to align mmwec’s public and brand 
image with the organization’s new strategic 
objectives is under development, and there is  
an increased focus on providing relevant and  
useful information through mmwec’s websites, 
newsletter and other communications vehicles.

fInAnCIAL/rISk MAnAGEMEnT
following its 2006 credit review of mmwec, 
credit rating agency standard & poor’s (s&p) 
upgraded the ratings on two of mmwec’s seven 
power supply projects and reaffirmed its ratings 
on the other five projects. these projects reflect 
mmwec’s bond-financed ownership interests in 
the stony brook intermediate, seabrook station, 
millstone unit 3 and wyman unit 4 generating 
units. the s&p ratings on all of the projects 
were assigned a stable outlook based on several 
factors, including solid levels of debt service 
coverage and liquidity, the ability of project 
participants to recover their power costs without 
state regulatory approval, the limited direct debt 
and capital needs of project participants, and the 
competitive electric rates of project participants.

Proactive management of MMWEC’s investment 
portfolio in 2006 yielded portfolio earnings for 
the year of nearly $12.1 million as compared to 
$7.3 million in 2005. high on the priority list for 
2007 is the establishment of an Enterprise risk 
Management Program that will identify, assess and 
address the MMWEC organization’s business risks.
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BeCAuSe The reSTruCTurING prOCeSS 
reaches the very core of the MMweC organization, 
there are many other measures of progress and 
achievement, from the willingness of employees to 
advance new ideas to the financial and moral support 
that Members have given to restructuring initiatives.

This is an exciting time of fundamental change at MMWEC. Transition to the new MMWEC has had its  
challenges, but issues are being overcome with process change and open, honest communications. 
keeping people involved and enthused about the restructuring process is important, as is the ability to 
adapt to changing circumstances and needs.

The process of restructuring MMWEC has moved into its second year and is doing well. Looking ahead,  
the promise is for a vibrant and responsive organization that is positioned to address the issues and  
challenges of an evolving and increasingly competitive marketplace.
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copies of this report and supplemental financial information can be obtained, free of charge, by contacting the  
MMWEC Corporate Communications Office. ©MMWEC 2007

 
Massachusetts Municipal Wholesale Electric Company, p.o. box 426, ludlow, mA 01056
phone: (413) 589-0141 fax: (413) 589-1585 e-mail: mmwec@mmwec.org internet: www.mmwec.org 

management’s Discussion and Analysis of financial performance as well as mmwec’s financial statements  
for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 are contained on the cD included with this year’s annual report.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT 
 

To the Board of Directors and Members of  
Massachusetts Municipal Wholesale Electric Company: 
 
We have audited the accompanying balance sheet of Massachusetts Municipal Wholesale 
Electric Company as identified in the accompanying table of contents as of and for the year 
ended December 31, 2006 and related statement of revenues and expenses and statement of 
cash flows for the year then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of 
Massachusetts Municipal Wholesale Electric Company’s management. Our responsibility is to 
express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.   The financial statements 
of Massachusetts Municipal Wholesale Electric Company as of and for the year ended 
December 31, 2005 were audited by other auditors whose report, dated March 17, 2006, 
expressed an unqualified opinion on these financial statements. 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. 
An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and 
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement 
presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. 
 
In our opinion, the combined financial statements referred to in the first paragraph present fairly, 
in all material respects, the financial position of Massachusetts Municipal Wholesale Electric 
Company as of December 31, 2006, and the results of operations included in this report and its 
cash flows for the year then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in 
the United States of America. 
 
The Management’s Discussion and Analysis is not a required part of the basic financial 
statements, but is supplementary information required by the Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board. We have applied certain limited procedures that consisted principally of 
inquiries of management regarding the methods of measurement and presentation of the 
supplementary information. However, we did not audit the information and express no opinion on 
it. 
 
The project financial statements and debt service coverage information as identified in the table 
of contents is presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the 
financial statements. Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in 
the audit of the financial statements and, in our opinion, is fairly stated in all material respects in 
relation to the financial statements taken as a whole. 

 
Madison, Wisconsin 
March 19, 2007

Virchow, Krause & Company, LLP 
Certified Public Accountants & Consultants • An Independent Member of Baker Tilly International 
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MASSACHUSETTS MUNICIPAL WHOLESALE ELECTRIC COMPANY 
 
 MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
 December 31, 2006 and 2005 
 
 
The following discussion and analysis of the Massachusetts Municipal Wholesale Electric 
Company (MMWEC) provides an overview and analysis of MMWEC’s financial performance 
during the years ending December 31, 2006 and 2005. This discussion and analysis should be 
read in conjunction with MMWEC’s financial statements and the accompanying notes. 
 
 
OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
MMWEC is a public corporation and a political subdivision of the Commonwealth of 
Massachusetts formed to be a joint action agency and to develop a bulk power supply for its 
member Massachusetts municipal electric systems (Members) and other utilities. Among other 
things, MMWEC is authorized to construct, own or purchase ownership interests in electric 
facilities and to issue revenue bonds for such purposes.  MMWEC’s ownership interest in electric 
generation facilities are through various Projects.  The bonds of any bond issue relating to a 
Project are secured solely by revenues derived from that Project.  Project revenues are derived, 
primarily from Power Sales Agreements (PSAs) with MMWEC’s Members and other utilities that 
are Participants in a Project (Project Participants).  MMWEC’s bulk power supply program 
consists of power purchase arrangements, power brokering services, planning and financial 
services, and the Projects relating to generating facilities built and operated either by MMWEC or 
other regional utilities. 
 
A Massachusetts city or town having a municipal electric system, authorized by majority vote of 
the city or town, may become a Member of MMWEC by applying for admission and agreeing to 
comply with the terms and conditions of membership as MMWEC By-Laws may require.  As of 
December 31, 2006, twenty-four Massachusetts municipal electric systems were Members.  
Termination of membership does not relieve a system of its PSA or other power purchase 
obligations. 
 
The accounting records of MMWEC are maintained in accordance with the Uniform System of 
Accounts for Public Utilities and Licensees prescribed by the Federal Energy Regulatory 
Commission and in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles for regulated 
utilities using the accrual basis of accounting. This also includes Statement of Financial 
Accounting Standards No. 71, Accounting for the Effects of Certain Types of Regulation as it 
relates to the deferral of revenues and expenses to future periods in which the revenues are 
expected to be earned or expenses expected to be recovered through the ratemaking process. 
 
MMWEC follows all Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) statements and follows 
all Financial Accounting Standards issued before November 30, 1989.  MMWEC also follows all 
Financial Accounting Standards Board statements issued after November 30, 1989, only if there 
is no GASB guidance available.  
 
This annual report consists of two parts: Management’s Discussion and Analysis (this section) 
and the basic financial statements. The Balance Sheet reports year-end assets and liabilities 
based on the original cost adjusted for any depreciation, amortization or unrealized gains/losses 
as appropriate. The Statement of Revenues and Expenses presents MMWEC’s operating 
revenues and expenses incurred as a result of MMWEC’s business activity. The Statement of 
Cash Flows reports the cash provided and used for operating activities, as well as other cash 
sources such as investment income and cash payments for repayment of bonds and capital 
additions.  
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MASSACHUSETTS MUNICIPAL WHOLESALE ELECTRIC COMPANY 
 
 MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (cont.) 
 December 31, 2006 and 2005 
 
 
MMWEC FINANCIAL ANALYSIS  
 
An analysis of MMWEC’s financial position begins with the review of the Balance Sheet, the 
Statement of Revenues and Expenses and the Statement of Cash Flows. A summary of 
MMWEC’s Balance Sheet is presented in Table 1. The Statement of Revenues and Expenses is 
summarized in Table 2 and the Statement of Cash Flows is summarized in Table 3.  
 

Table 1 
Condensed Balance Sheets 

 
   2006   2005    2004 

 (In Thousands) 
Current assets $     87,068 $     95,083  $     66,628
Restricted assets 280,624 292,586  216,692
Other assets 112,536 154,710  199,756
Utility plant     608,000     617,548      635,116
    Total assets $1,088,228 $1,159,927  $1,118,192
  
Non-current liabilities $   883,132 $   946,757  $   944,664
Current liabilities     205,096     213,170      173,528
    Total liabilities $1,088,228 $1,159,927  $1,118,192
   

 
 

Table 2 
Condensed Statements of Revenues and Expenses 

 
      2006       2005       2004 
        (In Thousands) 
  Operating revenues $354,498 $372,398 $283,748

  Depreciation expense 22,794 22,659 22,308
  Other operating expenses  252,366  263,962  175,398

  Total operating expenses  275,160  286,621  197,706

  Operating income    79,338    85,777   86,042

  Interest income 17,067 6,440 7,419
  Interest expense (32,772) (34,017) (34,820)
  Decrease in amounts recoverable under terms 
    of the power sales agreements 

(63,685) (140,229) (58,686)

  Other income           52    82,029           45
 Total non-operating revenues (expenses)   (79,338)   (85,777)   (86,042)

  Net revenues and expenses $           - $           - $           -
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MASSACHUSETTS MUNICIPAL WHOLESALE ELECTRIC COMPANY 
 
 MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (cont.) 
 December 31, 2006 and 2005 
 
 
MMWEC FINANCIAL ANALYSIS (cont.) 
 

Table 3 
Condensed Statements of Cash Flows 

 
      2006     2005      2004  
  (In Thousands) 

Net cash flows from operating activities $111,874 $176,725 $105,067 
Net cash flows from capital and related financing 
  activities (136,056) (109,146

 
) 

 
(128,738

 
) 

Net cash flows from investing activities    36,650    (31,242)       8,580 

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 12,468 36,337 (15,091) 

Cash and cash equivalents – beginning of year   138,831   102,494   117,585 

Cash and cash equivalents – end of year $151,299 $138,831 $102,494 
 
 
BALANCE SHEET 
 
The majority of MMWEC’s Balance Sheet consists of the financial activity relating to Projects, 
which contain ownership interests in electric generation facilities and have corresponding PSAs 
with Project Participants. MMWEC’s joint ownership interests are shown in Note 8 – Project Joint 
Ownership Agreements in the accompanying notes. The following analysis compares 2006 
financial results to 2005. 
 
In 2006, utility plant had a net decrease as compared to 2005 due to depreciation expense on 
MMWEC plant assets, offset by capital and nuclear fuel expenditures.  Depreciation expense has 
been generally level for the last few years. The majority of the capital expenditure increase 
relates to improvement projects for the Seabrook Station and Millstone Unit 3 nuclear power 
plants. In October 2006, the Seabrook Station completed the second and final phase of a power 
uprate, which increased MMWEC’s share of the Seabrook Station output by approximately 10 
MW. Additionally, there was an increase to nuclear fuel primarily due to purchases for future 
refueling cycles relating to Seabrook Station. The MMWEC Stony Brook Intermediate and 
Peaking Units celebrated 25 years of operation in the fall of 2006. In 2006, the Stony Brook 
Intermediate and Peaking Units installed diesel generators that allow the units to start 
independently and reenergize the region’s power grid during total blackout conditions as required 
by ISO-New England (ISO-NE) and provide MMWEC with revenues from ISO-NE for this 
capability.  
 
Current assets decreased primarily due to lower accounts receivable in 2006 as compared to 
2005, which had higher ISO-NE interchange expenses in December 2005 and a higher 
Intermediate Project PSA billing for January 2006. ISO-NE interchange expenses were higher in 
2005 due to soaring wholesale power market costs that were impacted by Hurricanes Katrina and 
Rita. The Intermediate Project PSA billing was higher due to an anticipated increase in 
generation and the resulting fuel expense. The anticipated increase in generation was due to 
ISO-NE concerns about potential electric generation shortages in the winter months, starting in 
December 2005, resulting from the impacts of Hurricanes Katrina and Rita on supplies of natural 
gas. ISO-NE stated that it may need to rely more heavily on oil-fired generation from dual-fueled 
units that can burn oil or natural gas such as MMWEC’s Intermediate Unit. 
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MASSACHUSETTS MUNICIPAL WHOLESALE ELECTRIC COMPANY 
 
 MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (cont.) 
 December 31, 2006 and 2005 
 
 
BALANCE SHEET (cont.) 
 
Restricted assets decreased due to a lower Revenue Fund balance for Seabrook Station related 
MMWEC Projects as a result of increased nuclear fuel purchases and the use of advanced 
billings for the scheduled refueling outage in October 2006. There was also a decrease in a fund 
obtained from a terminated power purchase contract as a result of offsetting purchase power 
costs of those participants in that terminated contract. Additionally, there was a decrease in the 
Reserve and Contingency Fund for Seabrook Station related MMWEC Projects for increased 
capital expenditures. The decreases in restricted assets were offset by an increase in MMWEC 
Members’ contributions to the Working Capital Fund. 
 
Other assets decreased primarily due to a decrease in amounts recoverable under terms of the 
PSAs, offset by an increase to the Nuclear Decommissioning Trusts. Amounts recoverable under 
terms of the PSAs decreased primarily due to the billing of principal payments on bonds issued 
to finance the MMWEC Projects to the Project Participants, offset by depreciation expense. An 
explanation of amounts recoverable under terms of the PSAs is provided in Note 1 of the 
accompanying notes. Nuclear Decommissioning trusts for the Millstone Unit 3 and Seabrook 
Station increased due to contributions to the trusts and interest income earned in the trust. 
 
Non-current liabilities decreased primarily as a result of a reduction in long-term debt due to the 
reclassification of the principal and unamortized premium costs due July 1, 2007 to current 
maturities of long-term debt. On July 1, 2006, MMWEC made the scheduled bond principal 
payment of $70.4 million. Asset retirement obligations related to Seabrook Station and Millstone 
Unit 3 increased by accretion expense only in 2006. Other liabilities increased in 2006 due to 
MMWEC reclassifying credit balances in amounts recoverable under terms of the PSAs. 
 
Current liabilities decreased primarily due to payments on the fuel line of credit and the power 
purchase line of credit and a decrease in member and participant advances, accounts payable 
and accrued expenses. 
 
 
STATEMENT OF REVENUES AND EXPENSES 
 
The majority of MMWEC’s Statement of Revenues and Expenses consists of the financial activity 
relating to revenues and expenses from power purchases and the PSAs for Projects, which are 
ownership interests in electric generation facilities. Project revenues are derived, primarily, from 
PSAs with Project Participants. Under all PSAs, the Participants are required to pay their 
respective shares of MMWEC’s actual costs relating to the Projects, including debt service. 
Thus, MMWEC’s revenues for an individual Project are dependent on the costs of that particular 
Project. Revenues for the individual Projects vary from year to year as MMWEC’s costs vary, 
since MMWEC bills out only its expenses plus certain other amounts required pursuant to the 
General Bond Resolution (GBR). 
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MASSACHUSETTS MUNICIPAL WHOLESALE ELECTRIC COMPANY 
 
 MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (cont.) 
 December 31, 2006 and 2005 
 
 
STATEMENT OF REVENUES AND EXPENSES (cont.) 
 
Operating revenues and expenses decreased in 2006. Power purchase revenues and operating 
expenses decreased primarily due to lower interchange billings from ISO-NE as a result of power 
market costs retreating from their post hurricane highs in 2005. The Peaking Project revenues 
decreased primarily due to elimination of bond principal billings in 2006, since the Peaking 
Project Bonds were completely retired as of July 1, 2005. In addition, Peaking Project revenues 
and fuel expenses decreased due to lower generation. The Intermediate Project had higher 
revenues and fuel expenses due to increased generation from the Intermediate Unit, which ran 
daily during the summer months of 2006. 
 
Interest income increased due to the amount available for investment during 2006, as well as an 
increase in interest rates in 2006. 
 
Interest expense was lower in 2006, primarily due to MMWEC’s $70.4 million bond repayment on 
July 1, 2006. 
 
Amounts recoverable under terms of the PSAs decreased in 2006 and an explanation is provided 
in Note 1 of the accompanying notes. 
 
 
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
 
Cash and cash equivalents are defined as investments, which mature in 90 days or less, plus 
immediately accessible bank accounts.   In 2006, cash and cash equivalents increased by $12.5 
million. The primary reason for this increase was from net cash flows from investing activities, 
which included a net increase in long-term investments and interest income. Net cash flows from 
operating activities in 2006 were lower than 2005 due to lower revenues and other receipts. Also 
net cash flows from capital and related financing activities decreased as compared to 2005 due 
to payments of principal on the Stony Brook fuel line of credit.  
 
 
DEBT SERVICE COVERAGE 
 
For the contract years ended June 30, 2006 and 2005, MMWEC met the GBR debt service 
coverage requirements for all of MMWEC’s Projects. In accordance with the provisions of 
MMWEC's GBR, MMWEC covenants that it shall fix, revise and collect rates, tolls, rents and 
other fees and charges sufficient to produce revenues to pay all operating and maintenance 
expenses, principal of the Bonds and premium and interest on the Bonds.  In addition, MMWEC 
covenants that it will pay all other obligations against its revenues for each Project.  Revenues 
for each Project, which include applicable interest earnings from investments, are required to 
equal 1.10 times the annual debt service for each contract year ending June 30, after deduction 
of certain operating and maintenance expenses and exclusive of depreciation.   Further details 
can be found in the Supplementary Information to the financial statements.  
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MASSACHUSETTS MUNICIPAL WHOLESALE ELECTRIC COMPANY 
 
 MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (cont.) 
 December 31, 2006 and 2005 
 
 
DEBT RATINGS 
 
During 2006, Standard & Poor’s (S&P) credit rating agency, following its annual credit review of 
MMWEC, upgraded the ratings on two of the Projects, which have outstanding debt due in part to 
an improvement in the overall credit quality of the Project Participants. S&P raised the rating of 
Nuclear Project No. 5, through which MMWEC owns a share in Seabrook Station, from A- to A 
and raised the rating of MMWEC’s Wyman Project from BBB+ to A-. Additionally, S&P reaffirmed 
its ratings on MMWEC’s other power supply Projects, which reflect MMWEC’s ownership in 
Stony Brook, Millstone Unit No. 3, and additional ownership in Seabrook Station. 
 
All of S&P's MMWEC ratings were assigned a stable outlook based on several factors, including 
solid levels of debt service coverage and liquidity, the ability of Participants to recover their 
power costs without state regulatory approval, the limited direct debt and capital needs of Project 
Participants, and the competitive electric rates of MMWEC's Project Participants. 
 
 
MMWEC PROJECT OPERATIONS 
 
The following table provides information for 2006 for the MMWEC Projects. See Note 8 – Project 
Joint Ownership Agreements in the accompanying notes for additional information. 
 

MMWEC Project Operations 
YTD through December 2006 

      
 Stony Brook 

Intermediate 
Stony Brook 

Peaking Seabrook Millstone 3 Wyman 
Availability 95.99% 97.46% 88.13% 100% 94.10% 
Capacity   

Factor 9.57% 0.68% 88.77% 99.61% 0.94% 

Generation 
MWH 296,675 10,353 1,089,478 484,089 1,868 

The capacity factor represents the percentage of electricity actually produced as compared with potential production. 
 



MASSACHUSETTS MUNICIPAL WHOLESALE ELECTRIC COMPANY

BALANCE SHEETS
December 31, 2006 and 2005

(In Thousands)

ASSETS
2006 2005

CURRENT ASSETS
      Cash and temporary investments 5,234$               389$                
      Accounts receivable 34,121               46,111             
      Unbilled revenues 18,215               18,273             
      Inventories 28,618               29,434             
      Prepaid expenses 880                    876                  
            Total current assets 87,068               95,083             

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
   Restricted assets
      Restricted special funds 279,046             291,335           
      Interest receivable 1,578                 1,251               
   Deferred charges
      Amounts recoverable under terms of the
          power sales agreements 40,464               90,193             
      Unamortized debt discount and expenses 5,495                 6,870               
      Nuclear decommissioning trusts 50,123               43,485             
      Other 16,454               14,162             
            Total non-current assets 393,160             447,296           

   Capital assets
      In service 1,318,619          1,310,415        
      Accumulated depreciation (729,704)            (707,076)          
      Construction work in progress 3,707                 3,813               
      Nuclear fuel - net of amortization 15,378               10,396             
            Total capital assets 608,000             617,548           

TOTAL ASSETS 1,088,228$        1,159,927$      

See accompanying notes to financial statements and independent auditors' report.
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MASSACHUSETTS MUNICIPAL WHOLESALE ELECTRIC COMPANY

BALANCE SHEETS
December 31, 2006 and 2005

(In Thousands)

LIABILITIES 
2006 2005

CURRENT LIABILITIES 
     Accounts payable 16,836$             18,890$             
     Member and participant advances 69,313               75,939               
     Short-term debt 7,682                 15,159               
     Accrued expenses 37,774               32,433               
   Current liabilities payable from restricted assets
     Current maturities of long-term debt 73,491               70,749               
            Total current liabilities 205,096             213,170             

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
      Long-term debt, net of premiums 658,120             736,173             
      Asset retirement obligation 86,461               82,297               
      Other liabilities 138,551             128,287             
            Total non-current liabilities 883,132             946,757             

TOTAL LIABILITIES 1,088,228$        1,159,927$        

See accompanying notes to financial statements and independent auditors' report.
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MASSACHUSETTS MUNICIPAL WHOLESALE ELECTRIC COMPANY

STATEMENTS OF REVENUES AND EXPENSES
Years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005

(In Thousands)

2006 2005

OPERATING REVENUES
   Revenues 354,498$       372,398$       

OPERATING EXPENSES
   Fuel used in electric generation 28,268           26,474           
   Purchased power 169,321         184,437         
   Other operating 41,201           39,915           
   Maintenance 9,807             9,655             
   Depreciation 22,794           22,659           
   Taxes other than income 3,769             3,481             
      Total operating expenses 275,160         286,621         

            Operating income 79,338           85,777           

NON-OPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)
   Interest income 17,067           6,440             
   Interest expense on long-term debt (32,772)          (34,017)          
   Interest charged to projects during construction 52                  29                  
   Decrease in amounts recoverable under terms of the
        power sales agreements (63,685)          (140,229)        
   Other -                     82,000           
      Total non-operating revenues (expenses) (79,338)          (85,777)          

NET REVENUES AND EXPENSES -$                   -$                   

See accompanying notes to financial statements and independent auditors' report.
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MASSACHUSETTS MUNICIPAL WHOLESALE ELECTRIC COMPANY

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
Years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005

(In Thousands)

2006 2005

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
    Received from sales to members and participants 356,274$           440,685$       
    Paid to suppliers for goods and services (244,400)            (263,960)        
       Net cash flows from operating activities 111,874             176,725         

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED  
  FINANCING ACTIVITIES
    Construction expenditures and purchases of nuclear fuel (18,809)              (11,286)          
    Net proceeds from issuance of new debt 1,459                 10,897           
    Principal payments on long-term debt (70,360)              (71,300)          
    Principal payments on short-term debt (8,936)                -                     
    Decommissioning trust payments (6,638)                (3,440)            
    Interest payments on long-term debt (32,772)              (34,017)          
       Net cash flows from capital and related financing activities (136,056)            (109,146)        

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
    Net maturities and purchases of investments 19,913               (37,284)          
    Interest received 16,737               6,042             
       Net cash flows from investing activities 36,650               (31,242)          

             Net change in cash and cash equivalents 12,468               36,337           

    Cash and cash equivalents – beginning of year 138,831             102,494         

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS – END OF YEAR 151,299$           138,831$       
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MASSACHUSETTS MUNICIPAL WHOLESALE ELECTRIC COMPANY

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
Years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005

(In Thousands)

2006 2005

RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING INCOME TO NET CASH
  FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
    Operating income 79,338$             85,777$         
    Noncash items included in operating income  
      Depreciation 22,794               22,659           
      Amortization of debt discount and nuclear fuel 6,085                 5,228             
    Changes in assets and liabilities
       Accounts receivable 11,990               (14,810)          
       Unbilled revenues 58                      (5,553)            
       Inventories 816                    (10,026)          
       Accrued expenses and other 3,124                 (4,656)            
       Prepaid expenses (4)                       58                  
       Member and participant advances (6,626)                21,700           
       Accounts payable (2,054)                9,371             
       Deferred credits and other liabilities (3,647)                66,977           
  
NET CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 111,874$           176,725$       

RECONCILIATION OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS TO
  THE BALANCE SHEET
    Cash and temporary investments 5,234$               389$              
    Restricted special funds - non-current 279,046 291,335
       Total cash and investments 284,280             291,724         
    Less:  long-term investments (132,981)            (152,893)        

TOTAL CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 151,299$           138,831$       

In 2006 and 2005, MMWEC recorded ($63,685) and ($140,229), respectively, of non-cash activity related to 
amounts recoverable under terms of the power sales agreements.

See accompanying notes to financial statements and independent auditors' report.
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MASSACHUSETTS MUNICIPAL WHOLESALE ELECTRIC COMPANY 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
December 31, 2006 and 2005 

 
 
NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND NATURE OF OPERATIONS 
 
 REPORTING ENTITY 
 
The Massachusetts Municipal Wholesale Electric Company (MMWEC) is a public corporation and 
a political subdivision of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts formed to be a joint action agency 
and to develop a bulk power supply for its member Massachusetts municipal electric systems 
(Members) and other utilities. Among other things, MMWEC is authorized to construct, own, or 
purchase ownership interests in electric facilities and to issue revenue bonds for such purposes. 
MMWEC’s ownership interest in electric generation facilities are through various Projects (Note 
8).  The bonds of any bond issue relating to a Project are secured solely by revenues derived 
from that Project. Project revenues are derived, primarily from Power Sales Agreements (PSAs) 
with MMWEC’s Members and other utilities who are Participants in a Project (Project 
Participants).  MMWEC’s bulk power supply program consists of power purchase arrangements, 
power brokering services, planning and financial services, and the Projects relating to generating 
facilities built and operated either by MMWEC or other regional utilities. 

 
A Massachusetts city or town having a municipal electric system, authorized by majority vote of 
the city or town, may become a member of MMWEC by applying for admission and agreeing to 
comply with the terms and conditions of membership as MMWEC By-Laws may require.  As of 
December 31, 2006, twenty-four Massachusetts municipal electric systems were Members.  
Termination of membership does not relieve a system of its PSA or other power purchase 
obligations. 
 
  MEASUREMENT FOCUS, BASIS OF ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT PRESENTATION 
 
The accounting records of MMWEC are maintained in accordance with the Uniform System of 
Accounts for Public Utilities and Licensees prescribed by the Federal Energy Regulatory 
Commission and in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) for 
regulated utilities using the accrual basis of accounting. Additionally, MMWEC follows Statement 
of Financial Accounting Standards No. 71, Accounting for the Effects of Certain Types of 
Regulation as it relates to the deferral of revenues and expenses to future periods in which the 
revenues are expected to be earned or expenses expected to be recovered through the 
ratemaking process. 
 
MMWEC follows all Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) statements and follows 
all Financial Accounting Standards issued before November 30, 1989.  MMWEC also follows all 
Financial Accounting Standards Board statements issued after November 30, 1989, only if there 
is no GASB guidance available.  
 

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 
 
 Cash and Temporary Investments 
 

For purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash equivalents are cash and investments having 
an initial maturity of three months or less.  
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MASSACHUSETTS MUNICIPAL WHOLESALE ELECTRIC COMPANY 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
December 31, 2006 and 2005 

 
 
NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND NATURE OF OPERATIONS (cont.) 

 
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (cont.) 
 
 Cash and Temporary Investments (cont.) 

 
MMWEC has adopted an investment policy, which is approved annually by MMWEC’s Board of 
Directors as required by MMWEC’s General Bond Resolution (GBR).  Although certain cash and 
temporary investment amounts used for power purchases and working capital requirements of 
MMWEC are not subject to the provisions of the GBR, they are subject to the provisions of the 
investment policy. 
 
Investments are stated at fair value, which is the amount at which an investment could be 
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties. Fair values are based on quoted 
market prices.  No investments are reported at amortized cost. Adjustments necessary to record 
investments at fair value are recorded in the operating statement as increases or decreases in 
investment income. 
 
MMWEC is restricted to investing in certain types of securities and investments, which are: 

a. Direct obligations of the United States of America 
b. Bonds, debentures, notes or other indebtedness issued by various federal agencies 
c. New housing authority bonds issued by public agencies 
d. Bonds or notes issued by states and municipalities that are rated in one of the two 

highest rated categories by rating agencies 
e. Bank time deposits 
f. Repurchase agreements 
g. Federal funds or bankers acceptances 
h. Investment agreements 

 
 Inventories 
 
Fuel oil and spare parts inventories are recorded and accounted for by the average cost method.  
At December 31, 2006 and 2005, total fuel oil inventory was valued at $19.7 and $20.9 million, 
respectively, and spare parts inventory amounted to $8.9 and $8.5 million, respectively.  
 

Unbilled Revenues 
 
Unbilled Revenues are revenues that are not yet billed to Members and represent a portion of 
December services collectible in January of the subsequent year.  
 

Nuclear Fuel 
 
Nuclear fuel, net of amortization, includes MMWEC's ownership interest in spent fuel, fuel in 
reactor, in stock and in process for both Millstone Unit 3 and Seabrook Station.  The cost of 
nuclear fuel is amortized to fuel used in electric generation for each nuclear unit based on the 
relationship of energy produced in the current period to total expected energy production for fuel 
in the reactor.  A provision for fuel disposal costs is included in fuel used in electric generation 
based upon disposal contracts with the Department of Energy (DOE).  In addition, fuel used in 
electric generation includes the annual assessment, under the Energy Policy Act of 1992, for the 
cost of decontamination and decommissioning of uranium enrichment plants operated by the 
DOE.  The final billing from the DOE occurred in 2006. MMWEC, along with all of the other joint 
owners of both Millstone Unit 3 and Seabrook Station, has filed claims against the DOE in the 
United States Court of Claims for partial breach of the disposal contracts with the DOE.  Those 
cases, together with similar cases filed by other owners of the nuclear power plants, are 
progressing through the courts.  



MASSACHUSETTS MUNICIPAL WHOLESALE ELECTRIC COMPANY 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
December 31, 2006 and 2005 
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NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND NATURE OF OPERATIONS (cont.) 

 
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (cont.) 

 
 Capital Assets 
 
Capital assets are generally defined by MMWEC as assets with an initial, individual cost of more 
than $1,000 and an estimated useful life in excess of one year.  

 
Capital assets of MMWEC are recorded at cost at the date of acquisition. MMWEC capitalizes 
interest as an element of the cost of electric plant and nuclear fuel in process.  A corresponding 
capitalized interest amount is reflected as a reduction of interest expense.  The amount of 
interest capitalized is based on the cost of debt, including amortization of debt discount and 
expenses, related to each Project, net of investment gains and losses, and interest income 
derived from unexpended Project funds. Provisions for depreciation are computed using the 
straight-line method based on estimated useful lives as follows: 
 

 Stony Brook 
 Building 25 years 
 Building Improvements 20 years 
 Equipment 20-30 years 
  
 Service 
 Office Equipment and Software 3-5 years 
 
 Seabrook Station 60 years 
 Millstone Unit 3 60 years 
 W.F. Wyman No. 4 33 years 
 

In 2005, MMWEC revised the useful lives for certain building improvements and equipment. 
 

Deferred Charges 
  

 Nuclear Decommissioning Trust 
 
As required by the Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC) and respective state statutes and/or 
regulations, MMWEC has funded trust funds maintained by external trustees to provide for the 
estimated future decommissioning activities of Millstone Unit 3 and Seabrook Station.  The 
December 31, 2006 and 2005 Millstone Unit 3 and Seabrook Station balances of $19.2 and 
$30.9 million and $17.3 and $26.2 million, respectively, are stated at market value and are 
included as part of the deferred charges and amounts recoverable under terms of the PSAs on 
the Balance Sheet. The Nuclear Decommissioning Trust balance for the Seabrook Station 
includes an escrow account into which payments will be made by MMWEC as a funding 
assurance mechanism through 2007.  Depending on future circumstances, the funds held in the 
escrow account will be placed either in the decommissioning trust fund for Seabrook Station or 
will be returned to MMWEC, per order of a New Hampshire State body.  
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NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND NATURE OF OPERATIONS (cont.) 

 
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (cont.) 

 
  Amounts Recoverable Under Terms of the Power Sales Agreements 
 
Billings to Project Participants are structured to recover costs in accordance with the PSAs, 
which generally provide for billing debt service, operating expenses and reserve requirements.  
Expenses are reflected in the Statements of Revenues and Expenses in accordance with GAAP. 
The timing difference between amounts billed and expensed is charged or credited to amounts 
recoverable under terms of the PSAs.  Such amounts will be recovered through future billings or 
an expense will be recognized to offset credit balances. The principal differences include 
depreciation, fuel amortization, costs associated with canceled Projects (or assets abandoned 
within a Project), asset retirement obligations, cost of refinancing, billing for certain interest, 
reserves, net unrealized gains or losses on securities available for sale and other costs.  
Individual Projects have a cumulative deferral of costs, which total $66.2 and $98.2 million and 
have cumulative billings in excess of costs, which total $25.7 and $8.0 million at December 31, 
2006 and 2005, respectively.  In accordance with the PSAs, these amounts have been offset in 
amounts recoverable under terms of the PSAs on the Balance Sheet. 
   
The December 31, 2006 and 2005 balances of $40.5 and $90.2 million, respectively, reflect the 
Statements of Revenues and Expenses net decrease of $63.7 and $140.2 million for the years 
then ended and the minimum pension liability adjustments of $.6 and $3.2 million for 2006 and 
2005, respectively.  MMWEC reclassified credit balances in amounts recoverable under terms of 
the PSAs of $14.6 and $8.3 million for 2006 and 2005, respectively.  In addition, in 2005, a 
downward revision was made to the capitalized asset retirement cost and asset retirement 
obligation (ARO) of $1.3 million and MMWEC recorded a gain of $82 million on a terminated 
contract. 
 
 Member and Participant Advances and Reserves and Other Liabilities 
 
MMWEC maintains numerous operating reserves and advances from its Members and Project 
Participants in accordance with the PSAs, Power Purchase Agreements (PPAs) and other power 
arrangements.  Member and participant advances for 2006 and 2005, which are considered 
current liabilities, were $69.3 and $75.9 million, respectively, and are included in member and 
participant advances on the Balance Sheet.  Other member and participant reserves for 2006 
and 2005, which are considered long term, were $136.0 and $125.1 million, respectively, and are 
included in other liabilities on the Balance Sheet. 
 
 Short and Long-Term Obligations 
 
Long-term debt and other obligations are reported as MMWEC liabilities. Bond premiums and 
discounts, as well as issuance costs, are deferred and amortized over the life of the bonds using 
the effective interest method.  
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NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND NATURE OF OPERATIONS (cont.) 

 
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (cont.) 

 
 Asset Retirement Obligation 

 
Effective January 1, 2003, MMWEC adopted SFAS No. 143, Accounting for Asset Retirement 
Obligations (SFAS 143), which provides accounting requirements for the recognition and 
measurement of liabilities associated with the retirement of tangible long-lived assets.  MMWEC 
has identified certain AROs, which are primarily associated with the decommissioning of 
MMWEC’s ownership interest in Millstone Unit 3 and Seabrook Station. MMWEC’s AROs, other 
than those associated with nuclear decommissioning AROs, are not significant.  MMWEC 
recorded accretion expense of approximately $4.2 and $4.0 million for the years ended 
December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.  In 2005, MMWEC recorded a downward revision of 
$2.4 million to the ARO for both the Seabrook and Millstone Units due to changes in the length of 
their operating licenses.  At December 31, 2006 and 2005, the ARO was $86.5 and $82.3 million, 
respectively.    
 
AROs are recognized at fair value, as incurred, and capitalized as part of the cost of the related 
tangible long-lived assets.  In the absence of quoted market prices, MMWEC estimated the fair 
value of AROs using present value techniques, involving discounted cash flow analysis as 
prescribed in SFAS 143.  Using such measurement techniques is dependent upon many 
subjective factors, including the selection of discount and cost escalation rates, identification of 
planned retirement activities and related cost estimates, and assertions of probability regarding 
the timing, nature and costs of such activities.  Inputs and assumptions are based on the best 
information available at the time the estimates are made.  However, estimates of future cash 
flows are highly uncertain by nature and may vary significantly from actual results. 
 

REVENUES 
 
Revenues include electric sales for resale provided through MMWEC’s bulk power supply 
program.  Revenues consist of billings under the PSAs, PPAs, and other power arrangements.  
MMWEC also records service revenues by providing its Members with power supply planning 
and related services, which are billed pursuant to the MMWEC Service Agreement or the All-
Requirements Bulk Power Sales Agreement.  Revenues are comprised of the following: 
 

Revenues         2006          2005 
     (In Thousands) 
Electric sales for resale $350,438 $369,268 
Service      4,060      3,130 
Total Revenues   $354,498 $372,398 

 
TAXES 

 
MMWEC is exempt from state and federal income taxes. MMWEC does make payments in lieu of 
property taxes for its ownership interest in the Peaking and Intermediate Projects and property 
tax payments for its ownership in the Millstone Unit 3 and Seabrook Station nuclear power 
plants. 
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NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND NATURE OF OPERATIONS (cont.) 

 
RESTRICTED FUNDS 

 
It is MMWEC’s practice to use restricted funds on hand before using unrestricted funds when 
available for use. 
 
 
NOTE 2 – CASH AND INVESTMENTS 
 
MMWEC’S cash and investments at year-end 2006 and 2005 were comprised of the following: 
 
 2006  2005 

  Bank &   Bank &  
 Carrying Investment  Carrying Investment Associated 

Type of Investment Value Value  Value Value Risks 
 (In Thousands) 
Cash and Cash Equivalents:       

   Government Money Market Funds $  29,045 $   29,045  $       986 $       329 Custodial Credit Risk, Credit Risk 

   Bank Cash Management Accts 18 18  18 18 Custodial Credit Risk, Credit Risk 

   U.S. Treasury Bills 79,524 79,529  1,164 1,164 Custodial Credit Risk, Credit Risk, 
Interest Rate Risk 

   U.S. Treasury Notes - -  1,494 1,494 Custodial Credit Risk, Credit Risk, 
Interest Rate Risk 

   U.S. Agency Bonds 14,280 14,280  - - Custodial Credit Risk, Credit Risk, 
Concentration of Credit Risk, 
Interest Rate Risk 

   U.S. Agency Discount Notes 26,335 26,335  133,239 133,239 Custodial Credit Risk, Credit Risk, 
Concentration of Credit Risk, 
Interest Rate Risk 

   Invested/Bank Cash      2,097      2,094       1,930      2,303 Custodial Credit Risk 

Total Cash and Cash Equivalents  151,299  151,301   138,831  138,547  

       

Other Investments:       

   U.S. Treasury Notes 6,011 6,009  25,071 25,072 Custodial Credit Risk, Credit Risk, 
Concentration of Credit Risk, 
Interest Rate Risk 

   U.S. Agency Bonds  126,970  126,970   127,822  127,822 Custodial Credit Risk, Credit Risk, 
Concentration of Credit Risk, 
Interest Rate Risk 

Total Other Investments   132,981   132,979    152,893   152,894  

Total  $284,280 $284,280  $291,724 $291,441  

 
The Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation currently insures up to $100,000 per depositor.  At 
December 31, 2006 and 2005, investments had a market value with unrealized gains of $.1 
million for each year, and unrealized losses of $1.9 and $2.6 million, respectively.  The net 
losses and gains are excluded from earnings and are reported as a component of amounts 
recoverable under terms of the PSAs on the Balance Sheets.     
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NOTE 2 – CASH AND INVESTMENTS (cont.) 
 
Investments are stated at fair value, which is the amount at which an investment could be 
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties. Fair values are based on quoted 
market prices. No investments are reported at amortized cost. The difference between the bank 
balance and carrying value is due to outstanding checks and/or deposits in transit. 
 
At December 31, 2006, all investments were held in MMWEC's name by custodians consisting of 
the Bond Fund Trustee (as defined in the GBR), or MMWEC's depository bank.   
 
 CUSTODIAL CREDIT RISK 
 
 Deposits 
 
Custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of a financial institution failure, MMWEC’s 
deposits may not be returned to MMWEC. 
 
As of December 31, 2006 and 2005, $1.9 million of MMWEC’s bank balances of $2.1 million, and 
$2.1 million of MMWEC’s bank balances of $2.3 million, respectively, were uninsured and 
uncollateralized and subject to custodial credit risk. 
 
All investment securities are held in book entry form in MMWEC’s name. 
 
 Investments 
 
For an investment, custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the 
counterparty, MMWEC will not be able to recover the value of its investment or collateral 
securities that are in the possession of an outside party.   
 
MMWEC does not have any investments exposed to custodial credit risk. 
 
 CREDIT RISK 
 
Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or other counterparty to an investment will not fulfill its 
obligations.   
 
As of December 31, 2006 and 2005, MMWEC's investments were rated as follows: 
 

Investment Type 
Standard & 

Poor’s Fitch Ratings 
Moody’s 

 Investor Service 
U.S. Treasury Securities AAA AAA AAA 
Federal National Mortgage AAA AAA AAA 
Federal Farm Credit Bank AAA N/A AAA 
Federal Home Loan Bank AAA N/A AAA 
Federal Home Loan Mortgage AAA AAA AAA 
Federated Government Obligations Fund AAA AAA AAA 
Columbia Government Plus Reserves Fund AAA N/A AAA 
Columbia Treasury Reserves Fund AAA N/A AAA 

 
MMWEC’s investment policy addresses credit risk by defining allowable investments and a 
maximum allocation to each asset class. 
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NOTE 2 – CASH AND INVESTMENTS (cont.) 
 
 CONCENTRATION OF CREDIT RISK 
  
Concentration of credit risk is the risk of loss attributed to the magnitude of MMWEC’s 
investment in a single issuer. 
 
At December 31, 2006 and 2005, MMWEC's investment portfolio was concentrated as follows: 
 

  Percentage of Portfolio 
Issuer Investment Type 2006    2005 

Federal National Mortgage Assn. U.S. Agency Securities 12.98% 9.64%
Federal Farm Credit Bank U.S. Agency Securities 7.27% 6.99%
Federal Home Loan Bank U.S. Agency Securities 25.65% 60.34%
Federal Home Loan Mortgage U.S. Agency Securities   13.06% 12.52%

 
MMWEC’s investment policy minimizes concentration of credit risk in a single issuer by 
diversification of investment types using the following maximum limits which are established for 
MMWEC’s total portfolio: 
 
 Repurchase Agreements        10% 
 Certificates of Deposits  10% 
 U.S. Treasury Securities       100% 
 U.S. Agencies   65% 
 Municipal Securities             20% 
 
Deviation from the approved portfolio limits requires written authorization and approval. 
 
 INTEREST RATE RISK 
 
Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates will adversely affect the fair value of an 
investment. 
 
At December 31, 2006, MMWEC’s investments were as follows: 
 
    Maturity In Years 

Investment Type  Fair Value  Less than 1  1 - 5  Over 5 
        (In Thousands) 
U.S. Treasury Securities  $  85,534  $  81,392  $  2,659  $1,483
U.S. Government Agency Securities   167,585     75,899    91,178      508
   Total  $253,119  $157,291  $93,837  $1,991
 
At December 31, 2005, MMWEC’s investments were as follows: 
 
    Maturity In Years 

Investment Type  Fair Value  Less than 1  1 - 5  Over 5 
        (In Thousands) 
U.S. Treasury Securities  $  27,730  $  24,941  $    1,046  $1,743
U.S. Government Agency Securities    261,062    141,116   119,781      165
   Total  $288,792  $166,057  $120,827  $1,908
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NOTE 2 – CASH AND INVESTMENTS (cont.) 
 
MMWEC’s investment policy specifies that MMWEC shall seek to maximize the return on 
investments consistent with requirements for safety, minimization of risk and liquidity.  Monies 
will not be invested for terms in excess of the projected use of funds nor exceed an average life 
of ten years.  

 
 
NOTE 3 – SPECIAL FUNDS/RESTRICTED ASSETS 
 
Mandatory segregations of assets are presented as special funds.  Such segregations are 
required by bond agreements and other external parties.  Current liabilities payable from these 
restricted assets are so classified.  
 
Numerous special funds are required by the GBR pursuant to which MMWEC issued its long-
term debt.  The special funds are invested in accordance with the provisions of the GBR.  Certain 
working capital and other funds are not mandated by the GBR; however, they are invested in 
accordance with the provisions of the investment policy under the GBR. The composition of 
special funds is as follows: 

 
Fund    2006 2005 
            (In Thousands) 
Bond Fund Interest, Principal and Retirement Account to 
     pay principal and interest on bonds 

 
     $  50,892 

 
$  51,220

Bond Fund Reserve Account set at the maximum annual  
     interest obligation to make up any deficiencies in the 
     Bond Fund Interest, Principal and Retirement Account 

 
 

         58,638 

 
 

58,144
Reserve and Contingency Fund to make up deficiencies in 
     the Bond Funds and pay for repairs and extraordinary 
     costs 

 
 

20,585 

 
 

22,561
Revenue Fund to receive revenues and disburse them to 
     other funds 

 
45,585 

 
55,020

Working Capital Funds to maintain funds to cover operating 
     expenses 

 
27,413 

 
16,080

   Funds obtained from terminated power purchase contract          62,884            74,885
Other Funds for indemnification or purchase of insurance, 
     funds contributed for an agreement where MMWEC acts 
     as agent and long term investments for the Peaking 
     Project and fuel line of credit 

  
 
 

         14,627 

 
 
 
           14,676 

 Total Special Funds      $280,624   $292,586

 
Special Funds amounts above include accrued interest receivable of $1.6 and $1.3 million for 
2006 and 2005, respectively.  For financial reporting purposes, interest receivable has been 
disclosed separately on the Balance Sheet. 
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NOTE 4 – CHANGES IN CAPITAL ASSETS 
 
A summary of changes in capital assets for 2006 and 2005 is as follows: 
 
   

  Balance
  1/1/06 

 Additions/
Reclassi-
fications 

Deletions/ 
Reclassi-
fications 

  
  Balance 
  12/31/06

 

  (In Thousands)  
Capital assets not being depreciated:          
     Land  $      2,499    $       550        $      -    $      3,049 
Capital assets being depreciated:         
     Plant in service   1,307,916        8,045  (391)   1,315,570 
Less: accumulated    
     depreciation 

 
    707,076

 
     22,887   (259) 

 
     729,704

 
 

       Net plant  $  603,339 $(14,292) $(132)  $  588,915 
 
 
   

  Balance 
  1/1/05 

Additions/
Reclassi-
fications 

Deletions/ 
Reclassi-
fications 

  
  Balance 
  12/31/05

  (In Thousands) 
Capital assets not being depreciated:         
     Land  $      2,499    $           -     $        -   $      2,499
Capital assets being depreciated:        
     Plant in service   1,297,280       13,529  (2,893)   1,307,916
Less: accumulated    
     depreciation 

 
   686,150

 
       26,626   (5,700

 
)      707,076

       Net plant  $  613,629 $(13,097) $  2,807  $  603,339
 
A summary of changes in nuclear fuel for 2006 and 2005 is as follows: 
 

Balance 
1/1/06 

  
Additions

 
Amortization

Balance
12/31/06

(In Thousands) 
$10,396  $10,479   $(5,497)   $15,378

 
 

Balance 
1/1/05 

  
Additions

 
Amortization

Balance 
12/31/05

(In Thousands) 
$12,593     $2,831   $(5,028)   $10,396
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NOTE 5 – SHORT-TERM DEBT 
 
MMWEC maintains a revolving line of credit to finance, temporarily, certain power purchases 
made by MMWEC for resale under power purchase contracts.  Borrowings attributable to a PPA 
under this line of credit are secured by the following:  a lien on and/or security interest in all 
proceeds of any Loans prior to disbursement by MMWEC, all amounts payable to MMWEC by the 
PPA Participants under the PPA, and earnings from MMWEC’s temporary investments of such 
proceeds and amounts payable.  The pledge of the proceeds for any Loan and Agreements is 
limited to the amount payable by any PPA Participant up to the amount allocated to that 
Participant.  Borrowings outstanding under the line of credit were $.1 and $1.3 million as of 
December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.  During 2006 and 2005, the maximum outstanding 
balance under the line of credit was $3.6 and $9.9 million, respectively.  Interest charged on 
borrowings under the line of credit is at the bank's prime rate minus one percent (7.25% at 
December 31, 2006).  In addition, a commitment fee of one quarter of 1% per annum is charged 
on the unused portion of the line based on the average daily principal amount of the borrowing 
outstanding.  This line of credit expires June 30, 2007, at which time MMWEC expects to be able 
to renew the line for an additional year. 
 
In 2005, MMWEC’s Board of Directors adopted a resolution, which restructured the Stony Brook 
Intermediate Fuel Oil Project, Special Project 2003-A (SB Intermediate Fuel Oil Project), which 
was created for the purpose of financing purchases of fuel oil and selling such fuel oil to the 
Intermediate Project.  This restructuring was established to include the financing and purchases 
of fuel oil and selling such fuel oil to the Peaking Project.  The SB Intermediate Fuel Oil Project 
was renamed the Stony Brook Fuel Oil Project, Special Project 2005-D (SB Fuel Oil Project).  
Under the resolution, MMWEC increased the original $10 million revolving line of credit with a 
bank to $15 million.  Borrowings under this line of credit are secured by the following:  a lien on 
and/or security interest in all proceeds of any borrowings prior to disbursement by MMWEC, all 
amounts payable by the Intermediate and Peaking Projects to the SB Fuel Oil Project for fuel oil, 
and all earnings from MMWEC’s investments of any such proceeds and amounts payable to the 
bank.  Borrowings outstanding under the line of credit were $7.6 and $13.9 million as of 
December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.  During 2006 and 2005, the maximum outstanding 
balance under the line of credit was $13.9 million for each year. The interest rate for the 
borrowings under this line of credit is at MMWEC’s election prior to the last day of any interest 
period of either the LIBOR rate plus 1.25% per annum, or at a variable rate, which is the prime 
rate minus 1% per annum.  If no such selection is made, the variable rate is in effect.  The 
interest rate on the borrowings under the line of credit was 6.6% at December 31, 2006. This line 
of credit expires June 30, 2007, at which time MMWEC expects to be able to renew the line for 
an additional year. 
 
The following short-term debt activity occurred in 2006 and 2005: 
 

  Balance 
  1/1/06 

  
Additions

 
Payments

   Balance
   12/31/06

(In Thousands) 
$15,159 $  1,459 $  (8,936) $  7,682

 
  Balance 
  1/1/05 

  
Additions

 
Payments

   Balance
   12/31/05

(In Thousands) 
$  4,262 $10,897 $           - $15,159
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NOTE 6 – LONG-TERM DEBT 

 GENERAL BOND RESOLUTION 
 
MMWEC issued separate issues of Bonds for each of the eight Projects, which are payable 
solely from, and secured solely by, the revenues derived from the Project to which such issue 
relates, plus available funds pledged under the GBR, with respect to the Bonds of such issues.  
The revenues derived from each Project are used solely to provide for the payment of the Bonds 
of any Bond issue relating to such Project, and to pay MMWEC’s cost of owning and operating 
such Project, and are not used to provide for the payment of the Bonds of any Bond issue 
relating to any other Project.  Pursuant to all of the Project PSAs, each Project Participant is 
obligated to pay its share of the actual costs relating to the Project’s generating unit(s), and to 
set rates at levels sufficient to pay such costs.  These obligations are not contingent upon the 
operational status of the Project’s unit(s).   

  Power Supply System Revenue Bonds 
 
MMWEC’s issuance of debt, other than obligations with a maturity of less than one year, requires 
authorization by the Massachusetts Department of Telecommunications and Energy. 
 
Bonds payable consist of serial and variable-rate bonds dated November 2, 2001 and are 
comprised of the following issues: 

                                
 Net Interest   December 31, 

Issue Cost         2006     2005 
       (In Thousands) 

Stony Brook Intermediate Project, Series A (Original Issue $66,270) 3.5% $  17,240 $  28,625 
W.F. Wyman Unit No. 4 Project, Series A (Original Issue $3,255)  3.5% 1,105 1,525 
Nuclear Mix No. 1, Series A (Original Issue $90,015) 4.0% 55,920 63,620 
Nuclear Project No. 3, Series A (Original Issue $47,930) 4.2% 47,930 47,930 
Nuclear Project No. 4, Series A (Original Issue $112,695) 4.3%     109,380 112,695 
Nuclear Project No. 5, Series A  (Original Issue $42,170) 4.2% 33,695 37,485 
Project No. 6, Series A (Original Issue $347,535) 4.2% 256,130 280,985 
Nuclear Project No. 3, Series B (Original Issue $65,290) 4.9% 22,460 32,510 
Nuclear Project No. 4, Series B (Original Issue $48,450) 4.5% - 8,845 
Nuclear Mix No. 1, Series One (Original Issue $11,350) Variable 11,350 11,350 
Nuclear Project No. 3, Series One (Original Issue $62,975) Variable 62,975 62,975 
Nuclear Project No. 4, Series One (Original Issue $35,325) Variable 35,325 35,325 
Nuclear Project No. 5, Series One (Original Issue $9,025) Variable 9,025 9,025 
Project No. 6, Series One (Original Issue $52,100) Variable   52,100   52,100 

Bonds payable  714,635 784,995 
Unamortized premium  16,975 21,926 
Less:  Current maturities       (73,005) (70,360)
Current unamortized premium            (485)        (388)

Total long-term debt  $658,120 $736,173 
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NOTE 6 – LONG-TERM DEBT (cont.) 

 
The Series A Bonds maturing on and prior to July 1, 2011 and the Series B Bonds are not 
subject to redemption prior to maturity at the option of MMWEC.  The Series A Bonds maturing 
on and after July 1, 2012 are subject to redemption prior to maturity at the option of MMWEC at 
101% of the principal amount from January 1, 2012 to December 31, 2012 and at 100% from 
January 1, 2013 and thereafter.  
 
The Series One Bonds of each issue are subject to redemption at the option of MMWEC, in 
whole or in part, at a redemption price of 100% of the principal amount. 
 
 Long-term debt maturities are as follows: 

 
  Series A  Series B      Series One    Total 
 (In Thousands) 

2007     $  62,465    $10,540 $            -     $  73,005 
2008 60,285 11,100 - 71,385 
2009 67,180         820 - 68,000 
2010 57,990             -               -    57,990 
2011 59,400               -               - 59,400 

2012 - 2016 214,080               - 105,125 319,205 
2017 - 2019              -            -     65,650    65,650 

 $521,400       $22,460 $170,775     $714,635 
  

The interest rates on the Series One variable rate Bonds may be converted, at the option of 
MMWEC, to a daily, weekly, flexible, term or fixed mode.  The realized interest rate on the Series 
One variable rate Bonds during 2006 and 2005 was 3.2% and 2.2%, respectively. 
 
At December 31, 2006, the following are the detail terms of all variable rate debt: 
 

Project Auction Rate Auction Mode 
Nuclear Mix No. 1, Series One 3.30% Weekly 
Nuclear Project No. 3, Series One 3.50% Weekly 
Nuclear Project No. 4, Series One 3.65% Daily 
Nuclear Project No. 5, Series One 3.65% Weekly 
Project No. 6, Series One 3.65% Daily 

 
The following summarizes changes in long-term debt for 2006 and 2005: 
 

  Balance 
  1/1/06 

  
Additions

 
Payments

   Balance
   12/31/06

(In Thousands) 
$784,995 $           - $(70,360) $714,635

 
  Balance 
  1/1/05 

  
Additions

 
Payments

   Balance
   12/31/05

(In Thousands) 
$856,295 $           - $(71,300) $784,995
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NOTE 7 – BENEFIT PLANS 
 
The Massachusetts Municipal Wholesale Electric Company Pension Plans (Administration and 
Union) are two single-employer, defined benefit pension plans administered by MMWEC.  The 
plans cover substantially all full-time active employees. One plan covers union employees (union 
plan) and the other plan covers non-union employees (administration plan). 
 
The three-year information for periodic pension cost, contributions and accumulated benefit 
obligation is as follows: 
 

 Periodic 
Pension Cost 

 
Contributions

Accrued Benefit 
Obligation 

                          (In Thousands) 
2004       $1,230     $   784         $2,434 
2005         1,480 1,868           3,135 
2006         1,732 1,900           2,537 

 
An actuarial valuation was completed as of January 1, 2006 using the aggregate actuarial cost 
method for the union plan and the frozen initial liability actuarial cost method for the 
administration plan in determining pension expense.  The actuarial assumptions for the 
investment rate of return is 7.5% and the projected salary increase is 4.0%. 
 
Total employee wages covered by these benefit plans were $7.0 and $7.2 million in 2006 and 
2005, respectively, which was substantially equal to total payroll. 
 
MMWEC contributes to an employee savings plan administered by a mutual insurance company.  
All full-time employees meeting the service requirements are eligible to participate in this defined 
contribution plan.  Under the provisions of the plan, MMWEC's contributions are vested 
immediately.  For the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, MMWEC contributed $116,000 
and $122,000, respectively, and the employees contributed $186,000 and $194,000, 
respectively. 
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NOTE 8 – PROJECT JOINT OWNERSHIP AGREEMENTS 
 
MMWEC's power supply capacity includes ownership interests in the Stony Brook Peaking and 
Intermediate Units, both of which it operates.  MMWEC is a nonoperating joint owner in the W.F. 
Wyman Unit No. 4, Millstone Unit 3 and Seabrook Station.  Electric plant in service also includes 
MMWEC's service operations, which totaled $2.3 million in both 2006 and 2005.  The following is 
a summary of the Projects included in electric plant in service and construction work in progress, 
as well as MMWEC’s share of capability in megawatts (MW). 
 

 Facility and MMWEC Amounts as of December 31, 
Projects Share of Capability in MW 2006      2005 

                                                                                                                   (In Thousands) 
Peaking Project Stony Brook 170.0 $     57,237 $     57,151
Intermediate Project Stony Brook 319.5 167,233 166,408
Wyman Project W.F. Wyman No. 4  22.7 7,498 7,460
Nuclear Project No. 3 Millstone Unit 3 36.8 137,368 135,715
Nuclear Mix No. 1 Millstone Unit 3 18.4 55,189 54,360
Nuclear Mix No. 1 Seabrook Station 2.0 9,380 9,262
Nuclear Project No. 4 Seabrook Station 53.9 280,002 276,838
Nuclear Project No. 5 Seabrook Station 13.6 76,195 75,394
Project No. 6 Seabrook Station 74.7      529,903      525,521
  $1,320,005 $1,308,109

 
In November 2005, the NRC renewed the operating license for the Millstone Unit 3 nuclear unit 
for an additional twenty years from November 25, 2025 to November 25, 2045. 

Seabrook Station completed the second phase of a power uprate in October 2006. MMWEC’s 
share of the total power uprate was approximately 10 MW. In December 2005, the NRC issued 
an amendment to the operating license that extends the operating license expiration date from 
October 2026 to March 2030.  This is to recapture the period from 1986 to 1990 when Seabrook 
Station had an operating license, but did not operate.  FPL Energy Seabrook, the lead owner of 
Seabrook Station, intends to seek approval from the NRC to extend Seabrook Station’s operating 
license for an additional 20 years to 2050. 
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NOTE 9 – CONTRACTS AND COMMITMENTS 

LONG-TERM CONTRACTS- POWER PURCHASES 
 
MMWEC entered into agreements for participation in the transmission interconnection between 
New England utilities and the Hydro-Quebec electric system near Sherbrooke, Quebec (Phase I), 
which began commercial operation in October 1986.  The New England portion of the 
interconnection was constructed at a total cost of approximately $140 million, of which 3.65% or 
$5 million is MMWEC's share to support Phase I.  MMWEC also entered into similar agreements 
for participation in the interconnection between New England utilities and the Hydro-Quebec 
electric system.  This agreement is for the expansion of the Hydro-Quebec interconnection 
(Phase II), which went into commercial operation in November 1990.  MMWEC's Phase II equity 
investment is approximately 0.6% or $3.3 million.  MMWEC has corresponding agreements with 
certain of its Members and another utility to recover MMWEC's share of the costs associated 
with the Phase II interconnection. 
 
On a limited basis, MMWEC may enter into agreements providing financial assurance to third 
parties.  At December 31, 2006 and 2005, outstanding guarantees consisted of $0.3 million for 
each year related to its equity interest in the Hydro-Quebec transmission companies. 
Management believes that the likelihood MMWEC would be required to perform or otherwise 
incur any significant losses associated with this guarantee is remote. 
 
MMWEC has entered into a contract for a long-term purchase of 21.2 MW from an independent 
power producer. The table below reflects MMWEC’s minimum purchased power commitments as 
of December 31, 2006.  

  
     Amount 
 (In Thousands) 

2007      $  7,237  
2008 7,555
2009 7,873
2010 8,213
2011 8,552
Thereafter   14,353  
Total $53,783  

 
In 2001, MMWEC entered into an agreement with a supplier to purchase 50 MW of energy and 
installed capacity from January 2002 through December 31, 2011.  In 2005, MMWEC terminated 
the contract and received payment of $82 million.  This payment was deposited in special funds 
and MMWEC recorded a gain in other revenue on the Statements of Revenues and Expenses. 
 
 Claims and Judgments 
 
MMWEC is involved in various legal actions.  Management believes that the ultimate resolution 
of litigation in which MMWEC is currently involved will not have a material, adverse effect on the 
financial position of MMWEC. 
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NOTE 10 – RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
MMWEC is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, or destruction of 
assets; errors and omissions; workers compensation; and health care of its employees. These 
risks are covered through the purchase of commercial insurance, with minimal deductibles. 
There were no settled claims in any of the past three years.  There has been no material 
decrease in insurance coverage of MMWEC in the past year. 
 

Nuclear Insurance 
 
The Price-Anderson Act (the Act), a federal statute, mandates an industry-wide program of 
liability insurance for nuclear facilities. The Act now provides approximately $10.8 billion for 
public liability claims from a single incident at a nuclear facility.  The $300 million primary layer of 
insurance for the liability has been purchased in the commercial insurance market.  Secondary 
coverage is to be provided through an assessment on each of the currently licensed nuclear 
units in the United States of approximately $95.8 million plus an additional $4.79 million for 
defense costs per incident, not to exceed $15 million per incident in any year, subject to 
adjustment for inflation every five years.  Under the Act, MMWEC's ownership interests in 
Millstone Unit 3 and Seabrook Station could result in a maximum assessment of approximately 
$4.8 and $11.7 million, respectively, limited to payments of $.7 and $1.7 million per incident per 
year, respectively.  Originally enacted in 1957, the Act has been renewed several times and in 
July 2005, Congress extended the Act until the end of 2025, as part of the Energy Policy Act of 
2005. 
 
Insurance has been purchased from Nuclear Electric Insurance Limited (NEIL) to cover the cost 
of repair, replacement, decontamination or premature decommissioning of utility property 
resulting from insured occurrences at Millstone Unit 3 and Seabrook Station.  The NEIL 
insurance is subject to retroactive assessments if losses exceed the accumulated funds available 
to the insurer.  MMWEC is potentially subject to a $1.1 and $2.2 million assessment for its 
participation in Millstone Unit 3 and Seabrook Station, respectively, for excess property damage, 
decontamination and premature decommissioning. 

 
 
NOTE 11 – CONCENTRATION OF CREDIT RISK / SIGNIFICANT CUSTOMERS 
 
Credit risk represents the risk of loss that would occur if customers do not meet their financial 
obligations to MMWEC.  Concentration of credit risk occurs when significant customers possess 
similar characteristics that would cause their ability to meet contractual obligations to be affected 
by the same events. 
 
MMWEC has one member who is considered a significant customer, which accounted for 
approximately $45.0 million (12%) of MMWEC revenues in both 2006 and 2005. 
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NOTE 12 – ENVIRONMENTAL AND OTHER ISSUES 
 
MMWEC is not currently covered under gradual pollution liability insurance related to MMWEC's 
Stony Brook power plants; however, reserves have been established to mitigate liability should 
they arise.  Nothing has come to management's attention concerning any material pollution 
liability claims made during 2006 and 2005 or outstanding as of December 31, 2006 and 2005. 

MMWEC has established a trust fund to enhance its Directors' and Officers' liability coverage.  
The purpose of the trust fund is to make available funds for the purchase of Directors' and 
Officers' liability insurance and/or indemnification of the Directors or Officers. 

MMWEC has a guaranty with ISO New England, Inc. (ISO-NE) with respect to certain MMWEC 
Members’ financial assurance obligations to ISO-NE.  These Members do not have credit ratings 
and MMWEC provides financial assurances for their transactions in ISO-NE.  MMWEC’s financial 
assurance is backed by the NEPEX Account Agreement between MMWEC and each of these 
Members.  Pursuant to the NEPEX Account Agreement, each Member has an absolute and 
unconditional obligation to pay MMWEC for its respective ISO-NE transactions. 



 

  

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION 
 

 



                                ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS
      Cash and temporary investments $ 4,128      $ -                $ -                $ 1             $ -                $ 2                $ 1,103      $ -                   $ -             $ -       $ 5,234        
      Accounts receivable 14,007    1,410     2,093     2,838      811        5,142        624         6,522        624     50    34,121      
      Unbilled revenues 18,215    -                -                -                 -                -                    -                 -                   -             -          18,215      
      Inventories 6,597      62          -                1,637      414        2,268        6,334      10,434      872     -          28,618      
      Advances to (from) projects 723         (38)        (58)        (54)         (19)        (83)             (178)        (275)         (18)      -          -               
      Prepaid expenses 276         76          145        104         26          144            36           61             12       -          880           
            Total current assets 43,946    1,510     2,180     4,526      1,232     7,473        7,919      16,742      1,490  50    87,068      

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
   Restricted assets
      Restricted special funds 100,391  16,523   25,772   28,275    8,456     67,880      3,691      26,256      1,770  32    279,046    
      Interest receivable 781         37          63          104         34          277            29           233           20       -       1,578        
   Deferred charges
      Amounts recoverable under terms of the
          power sales agreements 1,963      20,972   43,282   (12,213)  (415)      (1,313)       (3,415)     (6,965)      (520)    (912) 40,464      
      Unamortized debt discount and expenses -              437        1,019     1,135      333        2,532        -              36             3         -       5,495        
      Nuclear decommissioning trusts -              6,849     12,788   11,556    2,925     16,005      -              -               -          -       50,123      
      Other 802         1,064     1,784     4,480      1,133     6,203        -              76             -          912  16,454      
            Total non-current assets 103,937  45,882   84,708   33,337    12,466   91,584      305         19,636      1,273  32    393,160    

   Capital assets
      In service 2,321      63,997   136,284 279,240  76,002   528,847    57,221    167,209    7,498  -       1,318,619 
      Accumulated depreciation (2,024)    (33,149) (73,058) (127,447) (34,896) (246,947)   (54,020)   (151,944)  (6,219) -       (729,704)  
      Construction work in progress -              572        1,084     762         193        1,056        16           24             -          -       3,707        
      Nuclear fuel - net of amortization -              1,047     1,741     4,769      1,207     6,614        -              -               -          -       15,378      
            Total capital assets 297         32,467   66,051   157,324  42,506   289,570    3,217      15,289      1,279  -       608,000    

TOTAL ASSETS $ 148,180  $ 79,859   $ 152,939 $ 195,187  $ 56,204   $ 388,627    $ 11,441    $ 51,667      $ 4,042  $ 82    $ 1,088,228 

                           LIABILITIES

CURRENT LIABILITIES
      Accounts payable $ 8,518      $ 280        $ 352        $ 2,750      $ 696        $ 3,809        $ 28           $ 331           $ 20       $ 52    $ 16,836      
      Member and participant advances 32,211    3,291     6,001     3,349      1,116     7,417        2,671      11,852      1,375  30    69,313      
      Short-term debt 7,682      -              -               -               -              -                  -               -                 -            -         7,682          
      Accrued expenses 15,074    1,526       1,839       5,691        1,572       10,736        15            1,256          65         -         37,774        
   Current liabilities payable from restricted assets
      Current maturities of long-term debt -              8,141       10,540     12,844      4,013       26,276        -               11,146        531       -         73,491        
            Total current liabilities 63,485    13,238     18,732     24,634      7,397       48,238        2,714       24,585        1,991    82      205,096      

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
      Long-term debt, net of premiums -              60,766     124,548   135,354    39,775     290,767      -               6,334          576       -         658,120      
      Asset retirement obligation -              5,855       9,659       26,894      6,807       37,246        -               -                 -            -         86,461        
      Other liabilities 84,695    -              -               8,305        2,225       12,376        8,727       20,748        1,475    -         138,551      
            Total non-current liabilities 84,695    66,621     134,207   170,553    48,807     340,389      8,727       27,082        2,051    -         883,132      

TOTAL LIABILITIES $ 148,180  $ 79,859     $ 152,939   $ 195,187    $ 56,204     $ 388,627      $ 11,441     $ 51,667        $ 4,042    $ 82      $ 1,088,228   

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this supplemental schedule.
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OPERATING REVENUES
   Revenues $ 168,046  $ 14,997   $ 22,689   $ 32,905   $ 9,404   $ 58,594   $ 5,111   $ 41,056  $ 1,316  $ 380  $ 354,498  

OPERATING EXPENSES
   Fuel used in electric generation -                  759        1,378    1,892     479      2,624    1,756   19,189  191     -         28,268    
   Purchased power 168,918  -                  -                 -                 -               -                 -               -                -              403  169,321  
   Other operating 3,609      2,717     4,634    7,808     2,041   10,840   2,437   6,578    * 537     -         41,201    
   Maintenance 34          413        644       2,389     605      3,309    568      1,845    -              -         9,807      
   Depreciation 29          770        1,611    3,457     937      6,444    2,230   7,066    250     -         22,794    
   Taxes other than income -                  194        336       674        171      934       360      993       107     -         3,769      
      Total operating expenses 172,590  4,853     8,603    16,220   4,233   24,151   7,351   35,671  1,085  403  275,160  

            Operating income (4,544)    10,144   14,086   16,685   5,171   34,443   (2,240)  5,385    231     (23)  79,338    

NON-OPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)
   Interest income 4,703      1,172     1,988    2,464     683      4,661    200      1,085    76       35   17,067    
   Interest expense on long-term debt (51)         (2,970)    (5,876)   (6,465)    (1,899)  (14,059) (32)       (1,368)  (52)      -         (32,772)  
   Interest charged to projects during construction -                  3            9           14          4          22         -               -                -              -         52          
   Increase (decrease) in amounts recoverable under 
        terms of the power sales agreements (108)       (8,349)    (10,207) (12,698)  (3,959)  (25,067) 2,072   (5,102)  (255)    (12)  (63,685)  
      Total non-operating revenues (expenses) 4,544      (10,144)  (14,086) (16,685)  (5,171)  (34,443) 2,240   (5,385)  (231)    23   (79,338)  

NET REVENUES AND EXPENSES $ -             $ -             $ -            $ -            $ -           $ -            $ -           $ -           $ -          $ -      $ -             

  * Allocation between maintenance and other operating is not available.

  The accompanying notes are an integral part of this supplemental schedule.
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PROJECT STATEMENTS OF REVENUES AND EXPENSES

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2006
(In Thousands)



CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
    Received from sales to members and participants $ 163,474         $ 15,339       $ 22,833     $ 31,806      $ 8,992       $ 56,766        $ 5,991        $ 47,975       $ 2,713    $ 385    $ 356,274        
    Paid to suppliers for goods and services (157,223)        (4,075)       (6,258)      (12,734)     (3,365)     (18,829)       (5,342)      (33,757)     (2,423)   (394)   (244,400)      
       Net cash flows from operating activities 6,251             11,264       16,575     19,072      5,627       37,937        649           14,218       290       (9)       111,874        

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED
  FINANCING ACTIVITIES
    Construction expenditures and purchases of nuclear fuel (51)                 (808)          (1,168)      (5,965)       (1,510)     (8,262)         (89)           (917)          (39)        -         (18,809)        
    Net proceeds from issuance of new debt 1,459             -                -               -                -              -                  -               -                -            -         1,459            
    Principal payments on long-term debt -                     (7,700)       (10,050)    (12,160)     (3,790)     (24,855)       -               (11,385)     (420)      -         (70,360)        
    Principal payments on short-term debt (8,936)            -                -               -                -              -                  -               -                -            -         (8,936)          
    Decommissioning trust payments -                     (709)          (1,282)      (1,761)       (446)        (2,440)         -               -                -            -         (6,638)          
    Interest payments on long-term debt (51)                 (2,970)       (5,876)      (6,465)       (1,899)     (14,059)       (32)           (1,368)       (52)        -         (32,772)        
       Net cash flows from capital and related financing activities (7,579)            (12,187)     (18,376)    (26,351)     (7,645)     (49,616)       (121)         (13,670)     (511)      -         (136,056)      

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
    Net maturities and purchases of investments (11,281)          1,620         2,280       8,887        3,509       13,806        156           612            324       -         19,913          
    Interest received 4,253             1,183         2,005       2,483        691          4,696          202           1,111         78         35      16,737          
       Net cash flows from investing activities (7,028)            2,803         4,285       11,370      4,200       18,502        358           1,723         402       35      36,650          

             Net change in cash and cash equivalents (8,356)            1,880         2,484       4,091        2,182       6,823          886           2,271         181       26      12,468          

    Cash and cash equivalents - beginning of year 67,086           7,191         12,304     14,086      3,106       26,981        82             7,631         358       6        138,831        

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - END OF YEAR $ 58,730           $ 9,071         $ 14,788     $ 18,177      $ 5,288       $ 33,804        $ 968           $ 9,902         $ 539       $ 32      $ 151,299        

RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING INCOME TO NET 
  CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
    Operating income $ (4,544)            $ 10,144       $ 14,086     $ 16,685      $ 5,171       $ 34,443        $ (2,240)      $ 5,385         $ 231       $ (23)     $ 79,338          
    Noncash items included in operating income
      Depreciation 29                  770            1,611       3,457        937          6,444          2,230        7,066         250       -         22,794          
      Amortization of debt discount and nuclear fuel -                     419            1,349       2,120        479          2,046          -               (327)          (1)          -         6,085            
    Changes in assets and liabilities
      Accounts receivable 3,506             (71)            (91)           (147)          (10)          (99)              247           8,438         212       5        11,990          
      Unbilled revenues 58                  -                -               -                -              -                  -               -                -            -         58                 
      Inventories 3,833             (2)              -               (52)            (13)          (72)              (171)         (2,733)       26         -         816               
      Accrued expenses and other 6,635             (378)          (638)         (981)          (264)        (1,630)         (21)           450            (15)        (34)     3,124            
      Prepaid expenses 4                    (4)              (9)             8               2              12               (5)             -                (12)        -         (4)                 
      Member and participant advances (1,901)            414            235          (952)          (402)        (1,730)         632           (4,106)       1,184    -         (6,626)          
      Accounts payable 4,866             (28)            32            (1,066)       (273)        (1,477)         (23)           (2,543)       (1,585)   43      (2,054)          
      Deferred credits and other liabilities (6,235)            -                -               -                -              -                  -               2,588         -            -         (3,647)          

NET CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES $ 6,251             $ 11,264       $ 16,575     $ 19,072      $ 5,627       $ 37,937        $ 649           $ 14,218       $ 290       $ (9)       $ 111,874        

RECONCILIATION OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
  TO THE BALANCE SHEET
    Cash and temporary investments $ 4,128             $ -                $ -               $ 1               $ -              $ 2                 $ 1,103        $ -                $ -            $ -         $ 5,234            
    Restricted special funds - non-current 100,391         16,523       25,772     28,275      8,456       67,880        3,691        26,256       1,770    32      279,046        
       Total cash and investments 104,519         16,523       25,772     28,276      8,456       67,882        4,794        26,256       1,770    32      284,280        
    Less: long-term investments (45,789)          (7,452)       (10,984)    (10,099)     (3,168)     (34,078)       (3,826)      (16,354)     (1,231)   -         (132,981)      

TOTAL CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS $ 58,730           $ 9,071         $ 14,788     $ 18,177      $ 5,288       $ 33,804        $ 968           $ 9,902         $ 539       $ 32      $ 151,299        

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this supplemental schedule.

WYMAN PHASE II TOTAL

Page   34

PROJECT HYDRO QUEBEC
SERVICE MIX 1 PROJ. 3 PROJ. 4 PROJ. 5 NO. 6 PEAKING INTERMEDIATE

NUCLEAR NUCLEAR NUCLEAR NUCLEAR 
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 MASSACHUSETTS MUNICIPAL WHOLESALE ELECTRIC COMPANY 
 

DEBT SERVICE COVERAGE 
December 31, 2006 and 2005 

 
 
NET REVENUE AVAILABLE FOR DEBT SERVICE 
 
In accordance with the provisions of MMWEC's GBR, MMWEC covenants that it shall fix, revise 
and collect rates, tolls, rents and other fees and charges sufficient to produce revenues to pay all 
operating and maintenance expenses, principal of the Bonds and premium and interest on the 
Bonds.  In addition, MMWEC covenants that it will pay all other obligations against its revenues 
for each Project.  Revenues for each Project, which include applicable interest earnings from 
investments, are required to equal 1.10 times the annual debt service for each contract year 
ending June 30, after deduction of certain operating and maintenance expenses and exclusive of 
depreciation.  As such, the balances included in the table below do not reflect December 31 
balances.  For the contract years ended June 30, 2006 and 2005, MMWEC met the GBR debt 
service coverage requirements for all of MMWEC’s Projects. 
                     
     

 Contract Year Ended June 30, 
 2006   2005 
 (In Thousands) 
Revenues   $166,656    $164,457 
Other Billings            508             561 
Reserve and Contingency Fund Billings       10,663        10,842 
Total   $177,827    $175,860 
Less:  Operating & Maintenance Expenses     (60,540)       (56,602) 
Available Revenues Net of Expenses   $117,287    $119,258 
Debt Service Requirement   $106,625    $108,416 
Coverage (110% Required)            110%            110% 
     

 




